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MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: ' JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA //<T<;
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON
ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TG BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2004 MARCH MONTHLY REPORT
FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to timely
file the 2004 March Monthly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On December
30, 2003, Prior Notice was sent to all presidential committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the March Monthly Report was due on April 20, 2004. On February
2, 2004, Prior Notice was sent 1o all other political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the March Monthly Report was due on April 20, 2004.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report filed the report
more than five (5) days after the due date. In accordance with the schedute of civil money
penalities for reports at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, these committees should be assessed the civil
money penaities included on the report provided.

Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and treasurers listed on the RTB
Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalties would be the amount indicated on the RTB Circulation

Report.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, BC 20463 SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, May 03, 2004 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, May 06, 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Reason To Believe Recommendation — 2004 March Monthiy
Report for the Administrative Fines Program. Memorandum
from the Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis Division
Dated April 29, 2004,

() | approve the recommendation(s)
() 1 object to the recommendation(s)
() t approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

{) | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

()} i approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return baliot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

S’ Sowmt? g vometl ot

Reason To Believe Recommendation - AF #1098
2004 March Monthly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commissicn, do hereby
certify that on May 06, 2004, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #1098:

1. Find reason to believe that Gary Nolan for President and Stephen L.
Dasbach, as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be

$380.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in the Reports Analysis
Division’s Memorandum dated April 29, 2004.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub

voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
S 4 ;
%{%&1/ & L0 7%&/101 @ /&‘D‘—C.
ﬂ Date Mary W.A4Dove
: Secretary/ of the Commission
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CONFIRMATION OF CuGM TC:STEPHEN L GASBACH
GARY (IOLAN FCR PRESIOENT
PC 80X 630¢8
FALLS CHURCH vA  22040-03032

FEOERAL ELZCTION CCHMMISSIUN
UAYNA JRCwin

923 £ 5T Nu # 709
AASHINGTCH DC 20463

dAY Ts 2034

STEPHEN L SA308ACH

GARY OLAN FdR PREISIOENT
PJ 80X 6334

FALLS CHURCH YA 22040

cud33437C
AF#T LO9E

OZAR 3TEPHEN L OAS3ACH:

THE FEJERAL ELECTICN CAMPAIGN aCT GF 1971y 453 AHMENCED (HMTHc
ACT")y RIQUIRES THAT YGOUR CIMMITTEE FILEZ A MARCH MONTHLY REPURT O
RECEIPTS AND DISAURSEMENTS CCVERING THE PERIGD ThHRCUGH FI3RUARY 26TH
{JR FEERUARY 25TH IN A LEAP YcaR)e THIS RZPUORT ShALL o€ FiLZ3 WG
LATER ThAMN MARCH 2CTHe 2 LaSeCoe 43alA). YCOU JdERES PREVIOUSLY
HOTIFIED GF THE DUZ DATE FCR THIS RZPORTe RECURCS AT THE FLUERAL
SLECTION CUOAMISSION (MFECT) INCICATE THAT THIS REPJORT HAS FILEL CON
03729/720C4e 9 DAYS LATE.

TH: ACT 4A3 FURTHER AMENCESC IN 1999 T0 PERAMIT Trhe FZC T IMPOSE
CIVIL MUNZY PENALTIES FOR VICLATIONS CF ThE REPCRTIMu REJUIRIMZINTS
OF 2 UeSele 434tA)a 2 UeSaloe 437GLAY(4) . Ui O05/Co6/720304s Thi FEC
FOUND THAT THERE IS REASCGN TC SELIEVE (MRT4P) ThRAT GARY lLioLAan FOR
PRESIJENT AND YUy AS TREASURERs VIJLATEL 2 UeSaelse 434(a) 23Y FAILING
TS FILEZ TIMELY THIS REPCRT GN CR BEFCRE #ARCH 20The BASc3 Ch THE
FEC®*S SCHEJULES OF CIVIL MUONEY PENALTIES AT 11 CefFeRRe Lllie43y ThE
AMOUAT 2F YJOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE T8 ST4AGE I3
333Ce. IT IS OUE BY Vorll53720G4 AND IS 8A3ED ON THAESE FALTORS:

ZLECTION SENSITIVITY CF RIPGRT:  NOT ZLeCTIAN SENSITIVE
LEVEL J3F ACTIVITY: 5325310

NUM3EZR GCF JAYS LATE: S

NUM3ZR OF PREVIIUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTEZS A33c55:EL0: 0

T PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TS PAY THE CALCULATED CiviL HMONZY PENALTY» 3ZNG TrAk £RCLISZO
REMITTARNCE AND YOUR PAYMENT T Thi FEC AT THZ ADDRZISS ON Padc 3.
PO RSLEIPT JF YOUR PAYMENTy ThHE Fcl lLL SEND YLU A FINAL

weSTERN UNICN cann:acan ;eavxces'



wZSTZRN UNICN COMMERCIAL Scvices

DETERMINATION LcTTcR.

TJ CHALLENGE THZ RT2 FINDING AND/ZGR ZALCULLATEZD CIVIL MONIY PENALTY

TS CHALLENGE THE ATY FINCING AnI/FOR CALCJULATELD CJIVIL MSNney
PENALTYy YOuU MUST SUBMIT A &SRITTEZXN RESPINSZy INCLUCSING ThHz Are FJUnD
ON PASS ONE¢ TD THEZ FEC®S CFFICE 2F AJMINISTRATIvVE RASVIEnay 399 C
STRAEETy NAy AASHINWGTChNs CC 23443, YUUR REZSPINSES #UST o RzZlz2lv:=s
3Y 35371372004, YOUR wRITTEN RZS5PINSE MusdT I aCLuof TrZ Riadaonia) wnY
YOU ARS CAHALLENGING THE RTE FINIZING aAnl/ZR CALCULATES JEVIL AONEY
PINALTY. THE FEC allbL CALY COn3IJEK CHALLZNGZD THAT ARE pA3CZO JH A
FACTUAL E£RRTRy MISCALCULATION CF THT CALLOULATEZL CIVIL H4J0cY PzwALTY
Y THE F£le AR THT EXISTzNLE UF TATRACASTIRARY CTRACUMETaAwIZS THaT
PERSIZTES FOA AORZE THAMN 43 ACURS ThAT aZnd SCYINC YIUX CLNTR3L ANS
PREVENTEL YIU FRIM FILING Th:I REPIRT IN A TIMHZILY FMalNiAdas Youa
RESPONSE MUST IHCLUCE THE FACTUAL 34315 SUPPIRTING THz RzASCAISE ANG
SUPPIRTINS DJZCUMaNTATION. ThZ FZ2 STRINCLY SnwCCURASGES TAaaTl cocddonTd
3E SUSAITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFICAVITS TR CzlLAKATIINS ZAAAPLZS JF
CIRCUMSTANCES TAAT WILL 3IT 232 CCNSIZZRED ZXTRACZRCIANARY [nCiulze 2UT
ARE NOT LIMITIZ Ty NEGLIGENCZe PRS3ILEHS AITA VEMIORS CR
COINTRACTIRSe STAFF ILLMNZSSe TOMPUTZR FATLURES AND S1AIcas
CIRCUMSTANLES,. 1] CefFofe 1112331433010 L01ITL) 20 (ada

YSUR FAILURE T2 RAISE Ax ARJUMENT IN A TIAEoY FASAlo .« cullag THE
ASMINISTAATIVE PROCESS SHALL 88 CEIMEC A walvVis UF YIuhh ~lun? TO
PRESENT SUCH AIGUMENT IN A PETITIZN TJ THE DISTRILT JouRT UNDZIx <
UeSale 43754 11 CerferRe 1llle3be.

IF YZ2u ESTEND T3 d3 REPRESCIHTLL of CIUnicZbe eLEASC AZVILST Ta:s
OFF10% OF aAgQ 1'\I$TRHTIV: REVIZhs YU SHCULL PARCVISEZy 1IN aRllTilGe
THZ NAAD, ACL-:{ S5 ANLC TELEFRONZ NUPSSR CF fouR ZCULaSEn a4l ALTHLRIIZ
COUNSSL TG KECCIVE NCTIFICATICNS aAnc CIPFMIUNIZATIONS RolaTlne T4 THIS
CHALLZNGE ANC IMPIOSITICN OF TrAZ CaALluwblATEL CI¥lL #ThcY PoHaliYe.

o

TF YOU SC NGT PAY THE CalLCULLAT-C ZIVIL #ONIY PLALALTY Za austli
CHALL ENGE

IF YZU J2 ie3T PAY ThHE CatcublaTza TIviIL MlacY PonNaliY on ado i IT A
ARITTEN RIZPUN3Ce TAE FIOU wlItbi AS3SUMY THAT THZ PRECuliaa FalTUAL
ALLEZSATICHS ARE TRUS AND MAKE 2 FINaw JETorReinaTichN TAaT  LaRY
NOLAN FCA PRESICENT AND YOL» A5 TRZIASURIAy dISLATED I Jesele #aali)
AND ASSES5S5 A CIVIL MONZY PELALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL HYCHEY PENZ . TIZ3 4535:
FItE RZGULATIONS WILL &2 3L3JEIT TC THE EJT CALLECTI Oy T OF
1382C(M"3CAYIAS AMCGHNICED 3Y THE DE8T CoLbecTld LAPROVIMEANT ALT orF
1996¢ 31 UeSeLls 3701 ZT 3EQe THE FEC HMAY T\ T oaNY O ANG bt
APPRCPRIATE ACTION AUTHIORIZZC AND RAZWUInsl aY THi CCAy» ad Adznlids
INMCLUDING TRANSEFER TO THE LeSe JZPARTMIANT LF THo TAZTadulY Flw
CILLECTION. 1l CeFaeRe 1llla4wbe
THIS MATTER WAS SENERATEL 3ASZ One IAFIAMATICN ASCufTwai~id oY
g FEC 1% THZ NORMAL CCuRSC ZF CARAYING JUT ITS LuPdRVIsual
SPONSTIILITIZS. 2 YeSele 4a37ulalll)e IT Al RéMals CloieFlunTlaln
“ ACCIRCANCE wITH 2 UeS5eCe 43700AMa){3) AT «+3760AXL2)10a) UnTIL
T I35 ALACECS InN THE PUBLIL RECIRL I ACCCROANCE AlTh i1 CaFaeie
111429 UNLSESS YIU NCTIFY TRE FEC IN ARITINO TAAT YU aldH THz
MATTER TZ Jdc MADE PLBLIC.

ASDITICSAL INFORMATION IJN THE F:=C
INCLUDING THZ FINAL REGULATICNSy I35 L

L'\
1L,|

L THAJYuh Trz AlalloTiaTive
~

FINE PAIOGRAM,
3 miLslTz AT



NESTERN

lll“ll("“
CWESTERN unxcn cou&eétIAL sskaCEs

WANeFZCaGAVe IF YGU HAVE (UESTIGHS REGARCING ThE PAYMINT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE CCNVACT SAYNA Ce oROWN IN Tne
REPORTS ANALYSIS OIVISICN AT CUR TOLL FREZ NUMoER (3000424-9530
{PRESS 1, THEN PRESS 2) OR (2021694-113C. IFf Y3U HAVE QUESTIUNG
REGARDING THE SUBMISSICN CF & CHALLENGEs PLEASE CCNTALT THE UFFILE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEm AT ZUR TILL FREE NUMBER (300)424-9530
(PRZSS Qs THEN EXTe 166002 (R (282)694~10¢E0.

SINCZRZLY,

BRACLEY Ae S¢ITH

CHAIRMAN
% & * % * * * £ % * ® # * =
ADMINISTRATIVE FING REMITTANCEZ & PAYSZAT [HSTRUCTIONS

1N ACCOROANCE wlTH THE SCHeECULE OF PENALTIZS AT 11l LaFsrs
1lLle43y THZ AMOUNT CF YOUR CIVIL MIONZY PENALTY CALCULATZO AT RTo I3
$333 FIR TAZ 200% MARCH MLNTHELY RZPIRT.
PLEASE MAIL YHIS REMITTAMIE #ITH A ChEICK JR ACNZY JROZIR Ma2:Z
PAYAILE TO TAZ FEDJERAL ELECTION COMAISZION TU TdE FIuLJaIN5 AJORESSE
FclcRAL ELECTIOCN CoOUMMISSION
Pole dCA 752182
35Te LGULISy MO £3193-214¢

IF YCU CH3TS3Z TGO SENL YIUR REMITTALCE ANG PAYMINT bHY CDUAL:Z
JVERWISHT JELIVERYs PLZASE dJS& THIS 4LORESS:
UeSse BANK — GOYEZRNHENT LOCKICX
Fzl #952182
1005 CCAVENTICN PLAZA
STe LOULSY M0 6310l

4
Ar
(@]

THE REAITTANCZ AND YOQUR PAYHMINT ARc CJZ 4
RECEIPT CF YCUR REMITTANCE ANU PAYHMINT, Thz F
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

Y Ja7137200%. UP Jdw
EC wlit 32080 YU A

PLEASE CETACH AND RETURN Th:Z PLRTIZN oZLTA AITA YOUR P2aYMinl

FIR:  SARY NILAN FQR PRESILENMT
FEC 1J4: CJ03443170

AF &S 10938

PAYHSINT CUZ 2aT3: 08/15/72C04

FAYAENT AMGUNT DUE: $333
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WASHINGTON, D.C, 20463
June 21, 2004

e

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION L2522 A g

MEMORANDUM SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION

THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

ROBERT J. COSTA
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBIJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2004 MARCH MONTHLY
REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to timely file the 2004 March Monthly Report,
The first list represents the commiitee that has paid the civil money penalty and the
second list represents the committee that has not paid. The committee that has not paid
has been given at least forty (40) days trom the date of the Commission’s RTB finding to
remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and [1 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penaity.

RAD Recommendation
(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



COMMITTEE THAT HAS PAID
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COMMITTEE THAT HAS NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, June 22, 2004 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, June 25, 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:

()
()

()

()

Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation For The 2004
March Monthly Report. Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director,
Reports Analysis Division dated June 21, 2004.

| approve the recommendation(s)
| object to the recommendation(s)

| approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which i abstain (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those foliowing
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return batlot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final Determination AF #1098
Recommendation For The 2004 March
Monthly Report: Gary Nolan For
President and Stephen L. Dasbach.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission,

do hereby certify that on June 25, 2004, the Commission decided byavote

of 6-0 to take the following actions in AF #1098:
1. Make a final determination that Gary Nolan For President
and Stephen L. Dasbach, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
-434(a) and asses the civil money penalty of $380.
2. Send the appropriate letters.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner and Weintraub

voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

ove
Secretgp¥ of the Commission

/@W, 28 g004 ?ﬁ,ﬂ Gt pse



WESTERN UNIGN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATICN OF MAILGRAM TCsSTEPHEN L CASBACH

GARY NOLAN FOR PRESIDENT

PC BOX 6308

FALLS CHURCH VYA 22040-0308

FEDERAL ELECTION CCMMISSIOM
DAYNA BRCHWN

999 E ST Nw » 708
WASHRINGTCN DC 20463

JUNE 295 2004

STEPHEN L OASBACH

GARY NOLAN FOR PRESIDENTY
#0 80X 6303

FALLS CHURCH VA 22040

C0G38437¢
AFa: 1098

DEAR STEPHEN L DASBACH:

ON G5/067/2006y THE FEDERAL ELECTION CCMHISSICN ("FEC™) FOUND
REASON TC BELIEVE (™RTAa™) THAT GARY KNOLAMN FOR PRESIUEnT AND Yduse AS
TREASURERy VIOLATEC 2 UeSele 434{A) FCR FILING LATZ OR FAILING TQ
FILE THE MARCH MGNTHLY REPCRT« BY MAILGRAA DATZD 05/07/72004, THE
FEC SENT YOU NOYIFICATION CF THE RTS8 FINOING THAT INCLUDEG A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTHY STAGE QF $330 IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SCHECULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CuFeRae lllaé3d.

ON 0672272004y THE FEC RECEIVEC PAYMENT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTE STAGE. THEREFOREs THE FEC MALE a
FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0672572004 THAT YLUe AS TREASURERs AND GARY
NOLAN FOR PRESIOENT VICLATED 2 UeSels 434043)y ASSESSED A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMODUNT CF $33C YN ACCORDCANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe illedlds
AND VOTELC TO CLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIOENTIALITY PRCVISICNS AT 2 LaeSeCe 437G(ANU12) NO LONGER
APPLY ANL THIS MATTER IS NCwW PUBLIC. THE FILE wILL BE MACE A 2PART
JE THZ PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TO 1l CeFoRe Llla42(d)e ALTHOUGH THE
EILE MUST BE PLACED ON THE PULBLIC RECORIZ WITHIN THIRTY (30) CAYS
FRCKE THE OATE OF THE COMMISSIONNCTIFICATIONs THIS COULD GCCUR AT
ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE CCMMISSIGNVLTE.

IF YCuy HAVE ANY CUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTERs PLEASE CONTALT
DAYNA Ce BROWN ON CUR TCLL FREE NUMBER (B800)%24-9530 (PRESS ls THEN
PRESS 2) OR 1202)694-1130.

SINCERZLY,
BRADLEY Ae SMITH
CHAIRMaAA



SUBSEQUENT TO THE JUNE 21, 2004 MEMORANDUM TO THE
COMMISSION IN WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, THE
COMMITTEE IN THE FOLLOWING CASE HAS PAID ADMINISTRATIVE FINES:
1098
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE

#  JAE

PATE FILMED ‘)/zvjy‘% CAMERA NO.___|
CAMERAMAN __&&]
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